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We are sending you the cases of twelve prisoners for use in publicity during 
Prisoner of Conscience Week (12 - 19 November 1972). Unlike previous years, 
no special theme has this time been choseno The cases have been selected to 
illustrate the scope of Amnesty's work for individual prisoners in countries 
with radically differing ideologies and policies; all, nonetheless, share one 
characteristic - the use of political imprisonment as an aid to governmento 

All the prisoners in this dossier are restricted or imprisoned in contravention 
of Articles 9, 18 or 19 of the United Nations Declaration of Human Rightso 
None is known to have used or advocated violence as a means of attaining their 
aimso Some are serving sentences, while others are detained indefinitely 
without trial. All are prisoners of conscience and, as such, adopted by 
Amnesty groupso 

You will find two cases from Latin America, one from Paraguay, a small, 
personal dictatorship, and the other from Cuba, a newly-established socialist 
state; in Africa, the imprisonment of a political leader in Tanzania, an 
independent African state, is set beside the restriction of two men, both 
opponents of apartheid, one African and one European, in Namibia and 
South Africa; the two Asian prisoners, both writers, are detained in Taiwan 
and Indonesia, countries with little in common except their governments ' 
rigid adherence to anti- communism as a political policy. In the Soviet Union, 
where the right of dissent has traditionally been denied, the prisoner 
represents the civil rights movement, while the Turkish case focusses attention 
on recent arrests in a country which has hitherto been free from large- scale 
political imprisonmento Within Europe, the Czech case illustrates the 
divisions within the Communist Party, while the Spanish prisoner, a 
Jehovah's Witness, raises the issue of conscientious objection in a classic 
form. Finally, the case of the Hungarian priest illustrates the fricti on 
between the State and the lower levels of the Church hierarchyo 

The prisoners represent different occupations nnd professions. If intellectuals 
seem over-represented, this is because they tend to be the best- documented 
cases on Amnesty's files, and so suitable for publicityo But Amnesty's work 
is accurately reflected in the small proportion of these prisoners who were 
involved in direct political activities at the time of their arrest; for the 
majority, official displeasure is the result of their refusal to adapt their 
writing, religious beliefs, or teaching, to the political requirements of their 
governments. All twelve prisoners share one common feature : they regard their 
personal beliefs as more important than their freedomo 

As background information, we would suggest that you use the current 
Annual Report to describe Amnesty's own activities on the different countries; 
the Survey of Political Imprisonment outlines the general situation in five 
countries - Spain, USSR 1 Taiwan, Indonesia, and Paraguayo 

We hope to have photographs available for all prisoners except Ali Muhsin 
Barwani (Tanzania) and Andreas Cao Mendiguren (Cuba); the cost is 50 new pence 
each. We have a photograph of Pramoedya Ananta Tur's family, as well as that 
of the prisoner himself (Indonesia)o 
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Father Cosmas DESMOND SOUTH AFRICA 

Pother Cosmas Desmond aged 35, is a Francisc an priest. He was born in England . 
where his parents now liveo He was house arrested on June 28, 1971, and is 
adopted by Aylesford group. 

The banning order confining him to his house was issued by the Minister of 
Justice in terms of the Suppression of Communism Act 1950 , /served on him by the /ur,d 
Security Policeo The banning order is operative until 1976 , it can then be 
renewed. 

The purpose of such an order is not necessarily to suppress communism : it is to 
silence an outspoken opponent of government policy, to prevent his communicating 
his ideas to others either verbally or i n writing, thereby influencing them too 
to become opponents of ' apartheid'. 

The order confines Father Desmond to his house, in Johannesburg, between the 
hours of 18.00 hrs and 07.00 hrs during week days, and all day Saturday and 
Sunday and public holidays, including Christmas. He may receive no visitors to 
his house except his medical practitioner when necessaryo He may attend no 
gatherings whatsoever, 'gathering' being interpreted to mean more than two people 
(including Father Desmond). He may not enter any place where publications are 
compiled etc., any educational institution, any factory, any court of law 
(unless summonsed), any area designated for the residence of Blacks; he may not 
leave the Magisterial District of J ohannesburg without permission from the 
Ministero He may not give educational instruction to any person, may not write, 
nor may anyone publish anything he says, or has ever written. He may not 
communicate in any way with any other person on whom a banning order has been 
servedo 

Father Desmond's work was largely among Blacks, for whom he has a love and 
compassion; he is now cut off from all association with themo Some of his close 
associates are also banned and contact w~th them is now severed. As with other 
prisoners "time is always long"o He is s tudying philosophy, but finds it difficult 
to concentrate. 

Police surveillance is effective: his phone is tapped and his mail is opened~ 
The penalty for breaking any of the terms of his order i s heavy: imprisonment 
without the option of a fine. 

The Chief Magistrate of Johannesburg r efused to grant him permission to attend or 
offer Mass in any church or chapel. But Father Desmond is not prepared to comply 
when it is a matter of conscience. On July 2 of this year a service was held to 
commemorate the work done by a l ay preacher, himself banned the previous month~ 
Three hundred banned persons were notified of the service. Father Desmond was 
there in person, taking the Service. He now awaits the consequence of breaking his 
ban in this manner. 

At the time of his house arrest there were protests including one from the 
Roman Catholic Cardinal in South Africa , but the Minister of Justice remains 
unmoved. 

The Minister of Justice is not compelled to give the r easons which motivated hi? 
issuing the house arrest order. But it is not difficult for the public to know 
whyo In 1969 Father Desmond visited all the "rese ttlement areas" into which 
70,000 Africans have been herded by government decree, and in 1970 he wrote his 
book 'The Discarded People' describing the conditions he found there. The book 
is banned in South Afr ica , but is published by Penguin bookso Granada Television 
has made a film of it, called "The Dumping Grounds", which can be hired by 
private individuals or organisations, and which aroused the wrath of the 
South African authoritieso This book describes life for Africans in the resettle­
ment camps where they are sent after being cleared from 'white' areaso It is a 
searing indictment of government policy t owards Africanso According to the 
Archbishop of Durban , Father De smond's 'dedication to the exposure of truth' is the 
reason for his bano 
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C arlos RIVERA Urrutia SPAIN 

Carlos Rivera Urrutia, a c~ilor's assistant, was ordained as a Jehovah's Witness 
minister in 1966 end called up for military service, compulsory in Spain, in 
September 1970, at the age of 220 He declared his conscientious objection on 
religious grounds, and as a result was immediately arrested on charges of dis­
obedience to military orderso Tried by court-martial in February 1971, he was 
sentenced to six months and one day imprisonmento On release, Carlos Rivera 
was again called to military service, again refused, and - at a second court­
martial, received a three-year one-dey sentenceo These recurring, and pro­
gressively longer sentences will continue until he is past 30. It is possible, 
in fact, that he could be held as long as he is eligible for reserve duty: up 
to 38 years of ageo 

Sro Rivera is only one of some 240 imprisoned J ehovah's Witnesses (and at present, 
two pacifist) conscientious objectors in Spain, many of whom have spent five to 
eleven years in a number of different prisons because their religious or ethical 
beliefs are opposed to military service and the bearing of arms. Spanish 
military l aw provides for no form of alternative ser ice, and the Government has 
twice tried to pass legislation regulating conscientious objection through the 
Cortes (Parliament)o Each time extreme right- wing pressure against such a 
measure resulted in its defeato It was hoped that after the second draft-law was 
withdrawn from the Cortes (because its original form had been so altered in 
debate as to make it unacceptable even to the Government), General Franco himself 
would enact this legislation by decreeo No solution, however, has been forth­
coming., 

While Carlos Rivera's situation i s that of all conscientious objectors in Spain -
and o thers have now been in pri son several years longer than he-his parents' 
hardship is compounded by the fact that another of their sons is also serving 
recurring sentences for refusing to do military service on religious groundso 
A third son (there are nine children altogether), not a conscientious objector, 
is about to be conscripted, leaving the =amily with no act:ve source of support 
since th2 father is retiredo 

Pramoedya Ananta Tur INDONESIA 

Pramoedya Ananta Tur is a novelist, essayist and critico He is regarded by 
many as the finest Indonesian writer of his generationo He has been a political 
detainee since October 1965 and is now one of 10,000 prisoners living in penal 
exile on Buru, one of the more remote islands of the Indonesian archipelagoo He 
has not been charged or trled, was detained by military fiat, and is scheduled 
for indefinite detentiono One of the harshest aspects of his detention is the 
fact that he has been unable to write since his arrest seven years ago., 

This is Pramoedya's third period of imprisonment; each has been under a different 
Administrationo During the 1945 Revolution, while he was active in the Indonesian 
nationalist movement, Pramoedya was arrested by the Dutch colonial government and 
imprisoned in Djakarta., While in detention he began work on his first novels. 
His second arrest was in 1960, when he was detained by the Sukarno Government for 
several months without trialo He had just published a popular history, 
The Chinese Question in Indonesia, which aroused official military and civilian 
antagonism by its defence of the Chinese community at a time when discriminatory 
policies were being pursued by the Governmento The book was banned and Pramoedya 
was arrested., 

In 1965, Pramoedya was again arrested, this time by the Army, under the authority 
of General, now President, Suhartoo On September 30 , a l eft- wing coup had been 
attempted in Djakarta., Arguing that this had been directed by the Communist 
Party - an assertion which has since been questioned - and that it was thus 
averting a Communist putsch, the Army assumed effective authority throughout the 
Republico Despite the fact that the Communist Party was at this time a legal 

contdooooo 
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parliamentary organisation, a violent purge was institutedo Towards the end of 
1965, a wave of uncontrolled killings swept Java, Bali and Sumatra in which 
several hundred thousand suspected communists lost their lives. By the time the 
PKI was officially proscribed in March 1 966, 250,000 political prisoners were 
in detention suspected of belonging to the Communist Party or its supporting 
organisationso Among them was Pramoedya Ananta Turo Since then, many have been 
released, but Pramoedya, with perhaps 50,000 others, remains a prisoner. During 
the last seven years, less than 300 have been tried: the rest are detained on 
the ground that they were communist or "pro-communist" in their political beliefs 
before October 1965, and would thus constitute a "security risk" if releasedo 
Since detainees are never informed of the reasons for their arrest, have no right 
of appeal, no access to legal advice or protection, and are held under military 
jurisdiction without redress to civilian courts, it is impossible for a prisoner 
to challenge his imprisonrnento 

No reasons have been given for Pramoedya's imprisonment apart from the general 
charge that he, with other detainees, is a committed marxisto As a radical and 
a populist, Pramoedya's natural affinity was to the political left, but it is 
not known that he was ever a member of the Communist Partyo His detention 
probably springs from a combination of factors : his concern for the Chinese 
community in 1960 which earned him the enduring hostility of influential elements 
within the Army; his active membership of LEKRA, a left-wing cultural organis­
ation proscribed in 1966 as a communist "front", and the criticism, never muted, 
which he levelled at corruption and other social evils through his writingso 

Pramoedya was born in Blora, Java, on February 6 1925. He worked for a time as 
a journalist and then joined the nationalist movement when the Dutch returned 
to Indonesia in 1945 following the defeat of the Japanese. After his release 
from prison in 1950, he published his first novels, written in prison, and by 
1953 -- ~ee years after Independence - his reputation was already such that he 
was invited to Holland as a member of an official cultural delegation. As a 
writer, Pramoedya's reputation was established on the novels and short stories 
written during the years immediately after independence; these drew on events 
during the Revolution and on his own personal involvement with the nationalist 
movemento He has written a total of ten novels, some critical essays and a 
biography of Kartini, the nineteenth century Javanese emanclpationist, as weil as 

his book on the Chinese community. In 1965 he was at work on an encyclopedia. ~ut 

at the time of his arrest, the house was ransacked by anti-communist mobs, who 
removed and destroyed many books and documents, among them the collected material 
for the encyclopediao 

From 1965 till 1969 Pramoedya was held in prisons in Djakartao In 1969, he was 
among the first group of detainees to be transported to Buru islando This was 
a new scheme designed to "resettle" those prisoners categorised as "B" on an 
under-populated island, far from other population centres, in an isolated part 
of the Republico "B" detainees are those officially regarded as "committed 
marxists"; the Government, however, admits that it has no evidence on which 
they could be triedo They are scheduled for permanent restriction, live under 
close survexllance, and depend for subsistence on the food they can growo This 
necessitates long and heavy working days for which the older and intellectual 
detainees are grossly ill-fittedo 

Pramoedya's wife lives in Djakartao They have eight childreno The youngest, 
now 7, was a baby of two months at the time of his father's arresto Two of 
Pramoedya's brothers are also detainees, one with him on Buruo Although monthly 
letters are now officially permitted, the postal service is unreliable and in the 
first three years that he was on Buru his wife heard from ·him only twice. 

Late in 1971 the Indonesian Government allowed a small group of journalists to 
visit Buru islando They confirmed two essential facts: that this was a penal 
settlement to which 10,000 untried prisoners had been exiled and that many 
prisoners had only the most tenuous or accidental contacts with the communist 
movement (as an extreme example, the youngest prisoner on the island had been 
arrested when he was 12 years old). While there, they met Pramoedya and confirmed 
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that he was unable to writeo Asked, as a writer, about his hopes for the future , 
he described his predicament in these words: "In Buru I have no future 0 

Conditions for me here are too difficult. I want to r e turn to Java, my home.oo• 
I used to be free in everything, thinking and talking and doing, but now I am a 
prisonero I have lost my freedom, I have lost my family, I have lost my work. I 
am a writero That is allo I want to write and one day I will write. That is 
my work and my dedicationo" 

• ,, .. ,, . .. YTf 'IC.:'J 

Lee Ao TAIWAN 

On May lst 1972 the Taiwan Government announced the conviction of the well-known 
satirical writer and editor, Lee Ao, and seven other dissidents on a variety of 
charges. Lee was sentenced to ten years in prison and six years' loss of civil 
rights; Wei T'ing-chao and Hsieh Ts'ung- min, associates of Professor P'eng 
Ming-min, the Taiwanese independence leader now living in the United States, were 
given twelve and fifteen years respectively; and sent:ences in the same range were 
given to the five others. The trial was conducted in secret by a military court, 
and the precise charges have not been published. (Under the terms of the martial 
law pronrulgated in 1949, when Chiang Kai- shek and his Nationalists withdrew to 
Taiwan in the face of a Cormnunist victory on the Chinese mainland, civilians 
charged with political crimes are tried by military courtso Except in rare cases, 
substantial information about such trials is impossible to come byo) According 
to a government statement, though, we know that Lee was sentenced for handing 
material about 'rebel s' in Taiwanese military prisons to foreigners for publication. 
He is also reported to have been charged with having a part in a 'Taiwanese 
independence conspiracy'o 

Eighty-five per cent of the present population of Taiwan are native to the island -
at least, they have been native to the place for several hundred years. Most of 
the remaining fifteen per cent have only been there since 1949 when Chiang Kai- shek 
came over from the mainland ; but it is 01iang and the Nationalists who now 
dominate the governmento Very many native Taiwanese at home and abroad - specially 
the younger ones - want Taiwan to be quite independent, f~ee from Nationalists 
and Communists alikeo Several international groups of Taiwanese are working 
peacefully and non- violently towards this end ; and it was no doubt with some 
domestic branch of these groups that Lee Ao was being identifiedo 

The question is, what domestic branch? There are grounds for thinking that a 
Taiwanese independence movement or 'conspiracy' within Taiwan itself exists only 
in the minds of the Nationalist authorities, and that they use it as an excuse to 
silence their critics. This may well have been the case with Lee Aoo Indeed, 
Lee Ao never seems to have been particularly interested in the idea of Taiwanese 
independence, though the authorities made desperate efforts to prove quite the 
oppositeo A• his friend Hsieh Ts'ung- min wrote in a letter snruggled out of prison 
recently, "I had to admit (under torture by the Taiwanese police) that Lee Ao, 
a very brilliant scholar and the most popular writer in Taiwan, was a commissioner 
in the Taiwanese independence movemento In fact I never knew anything about 
cormnissioners." Besides, Lee Ao, unlike his co- defendants at the trial, is not 
a native Taiwanese at all, but comes from mainland China. That goes a long way 
towards disqualifying him. 

It seems nruch more likely that Lee Ao was being persecuted for his 'brilliant' 
schol arship and his 'popular' writing, as a brief look at his career will make 
clear. 

Born in Manchuria in 1935, Lee Ao went to school in Peking and Shanghai, and later, 
when his family moved to Taiwan sometime after the second world war, to Law 
College at the National University in the capital, Taipeho He never got round to 
finishing his course there, and went on to the graduate school of the Literature 
Collegeo By this time, however, he had discovered that he preferred writing 

contd ••• o 
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literature t o studying ito He was developi ng into a witty and flamboyant 
essayist, poking fun a t Taiwanese men, manners and institutions; and he soon 
decided to quit ac ad emic life and devote himself to his peno Throughout the 
8arly 1960s he fired off volley aft er volley of satire and pol emic, and rapidly 
became famous (or infamous) throughout the countryo 

Early on Lee Ao had been fascinated by one of the :e ading lights of the Chinese 
cultural 'renaissance ' of the 1920s and 1930s , Hu Shiho Hu Shih, a fine schol ar 
and student of the American philosopher John Dewey, played a big r ol e in the 
passionate intell ectual debates thct t ook p l ace in China when the Imperi a l 
government, and with it much of China's classical culture, f ell t o pieceso Lat er 
on Hu Shih came t o oppose communism; he became a sort of culture-her o of the 
Nationalist e stablishment, and ended his life living i n Arnericao Rather like 
Hu Shih in his youth, Lee Ao believed that China (or rather, Taiwan) needed a 
total transformation of its hidebound cultural values, free from the shackles of 
the past and more open to the liberalising influence of the westo He attacked 
what he saw as the pompous and corrupt traditionalism of Taiwan's ruling eliteo 
In the end he even attacked Hu Shih himself o Thus he became a controversial 
advocate of reform, particularly through the publishing house and magazine that 
he used as his platform, 'Wen Hsing', ('Literary Star')o 

In the repressive atmosphere of a country under martial l aw and ruled by a 
government- in- exile, Lee Ao's telling and irreverent satire could do him little 
goodo In December 1965, after he had published a six- page editorial c alling the 
Nationalist Party to task for interfering unconstitutionally in strictly govern­
mental affairs, 'Lite rary Star'' s publishing licenc e was suspended for a yearo 
The following year eleven of his books wer e banned, and 'Literary Star' was asked 
to dispense with his serviceso Lee Ao decided t o bow out o f the literary world, 
a t least for a while , by (characteristically) opening a noodle-.shopo He arranged 
to publish ten volumes of essays - the 'Lee Ao Departs the World of Letters' series 
- as a last fling, but six of them were se ized at once by the Taiwan Garrison 
Commando Then, as a last str aw, his application t o open a noodle stand was turned 
down. 

At this point he went into semi-retiremento He wanted to avoid publicity, and 
made a living by selling second-hand electrical appliances t o American s ervice­
meno This lasted four years - until J anuary 1970 , when P'eng Ming- min, whose 
house had been under cons t ant surveillance , managed to escape from Taiwan in 
mysterious circumstanceso The Garrison Command and police in Taipeh were extremely 
embarrassed by this, and to prevent anything like it happening again they began 
to close in on anyone they thought might follow P ' eng's exampleo From then until 
his arrest fifteen months l ater, the police followed Lee Ao clo sely and r estricted 
his movementso Many of his experiences during that period - of t en rathe r droll 
ones - are recorded in his 'Diary', extracts from which have since appeared out s i de 
Taiwano After his arrest, he is said to have been held incommunicado and denied 
legal counsel until his trial in March this yearo 

So whatever the immediat e pretext for his arres t, Lee Ao had clearly been irritating 
the Taiwan Government for a l ong timeo He was t oo sharp a critic for comforto 
There can be little doubt that he was imprisoned for advoc ating his views - his 
non-violent vie1r1s - with galling persistenc e o For this r eason he is a sure 
prisoner of conscienceo 

Andreas CAO Mendiguren CUBA 

Andreas Cao Mendiguren, physician and professor at the Scbool of Medicine of th e 
University of Havana , was arrested in Havana on November 24 1960 and accused of 
being a 'counter-revolutionary 'o Tried on February 24 1961, by a ' Revolutionary 
Tribunal', he was sentenced to 20 years' imprisonment and is held today in 
Guanaj ay Prison, Guanajay (close to Havana) . 
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Shortly after the overthrow of the corrupt and dictatorial government of Fulgencio 
Batista in January 1959 , Fidel Castro's new administration set up Revolutionary 
Tribunals in order to bring to trial Cubans guilty of collaborating with the former 
regime; they used legislation based on a series of laws issued by Castro's rebel 
forces throughout 1958 as they prepared their Revolution from the Sierra Madre 
Mountainso These Laws of the Sierra Madre were later supplanted by legislation 
which defined all political crimes in two principal categories· those against 
the security of the State, and those against the stability cmd integrity of the 
Nationo Persons alleged to have nttempted to l eave Cuba illegally, for example, 
were accused of the second offence; while citizens who, in one wny or another, 
expressed their criticism of Castro ~nd his government were considered guilty of 
threatening the security of the s~ate. 

It appears that this was the specific charge made against Andreas Cao Mendigureno 
Like many other OJbans who had at first welcomed Castro's victory and the 
Revolution 's programmes of much-needed reforms, he could not accept the Government's 
subsequent commitment to communism, and i~ particular, he refused to teach the 
official ideology at Havana University or renounce his Christian beliefs. Trials 
by Revolutionary Tribunal gave the accused minimal opportunity t o defend themselves. 
They took place in an atmosphere of extreme confusion and high emotion, and a 
considerable number of persons - including Andreas Cao - were sentenced to long 
terms of imprisonment on the basis of littl e or no evidence. 

Sr. Cao 's wife and three children (two sons aged 10 and 11, and a daughter aged 
12) have lived since 1969 in Flordia, USA, where Sra. de Cao tries to support the 
family working as a chambermaid. Communication with her husband is now virtually 
impossible, but she has learned that his physical state (he suffers from diabetes 
millitus and a congenital eye disease which will eventually result in total 
blindness)has worsened. Although both conditions require highly specialised 
treatment, the efforts of Sr. Cao's family, friends and colleagues to secure his 
r elease and permission for him to leave Cuba have thus far been fruitless. 

Ali Muhsin BARWANI TANZANIA 

When the island of Zanzibar on the east coast of Africa became an independent 
state in December 1963, Ali Muhsin Barwani was one of the Ministers in the 
Zanzibar Nationalist Party (ZNP) government which admini stered the ex-colony under 
the constitutional monarchy of the Sultan of Zanzibar. According to its opponents, 
the ZNP represented the Arab-dominated elite which had ruled the lcu:gely African 
population of the island since the early nineteenth century. It was opposed by 
the Afro-Shirazi Party (ASP), a radical left-wing group claiming to speak for the 
majority of Zanzibar's 300,000 inhabitants. Independence was only a month old 
when a revolution overturned the ZNP regime and brought to power a Revolutionary 
Council headed by Sheikh Abeid Karume, leader of the ASP. Ali Muhsin was arrestee 
as one of the members of the previous government. 

In April 1964, a formal union was announced between Zanzibar and nearby mainland 
Tanganyika, which had become independent in 1961, and whose leader, President 
Julius Nyerere, was sympathetic to the African nationalism of the ASP. Several 
of the deposed Zanzibari cabinet ministers, including Ali Muhsin, were imprisoned 
on the mainland of the new United Republic of Tanzania. The ASP regime on 
Zanzibar soon began to take on a sinister character - absolute power came to be 
vested in the Revolutionary Council, and there were rumours of mass arrests and 
torture. In November 1969 several of Ali ~uhsin·s colleagues were returned to 
Zanzibar from the mainland and subsequently tried summarily - their exact fate is 
unknown to this day. During 1970 the situation on Zanzibar took a turn for the 
worse: the economy slumped, normal courts of justice were abolished, and the 
Revolutionary Council shocked world opinion by seizing several girls of Persian 
origin and forcibly marrying them to its members. In April 1972 the ASP leader 
Sheikh Karume, was assassinated in Zanzibar Town; his successor Mr Aboud Jumbe , 
promised to continue his policieso 

Meanwhile Ali Muhsin has remained in prison on the Tanzanian mainland for eight 

contdooooo 
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years without charge or trialo He is held under the provisions of the Preventive 
Detention Act, which allows indefinite detention at the discretion of the 
Presidento Amnesty was informed in March 1969 that Ali Muhsin would be released 
"as soon as it is possible", but no mov=s in that direction have since been madeo 

n ~ . • For the last few years Ali Muhsin has been held in Bukoba Prison , in northwestern 
Tanzania near the Uganda bordero /\n intelligent and cultivated man, he has 
spent much of his time in detention reading 1r1orks on religion and philosophy o He 
has been in touch by letter with his Norwegian adoption group since 1969, and 
the books and other gifts they have sent him have been a great comforto At times 
he has been opti mistic about his predicament; in January 1970 he wrote: 

I do not know whether I shall ever taste freedom 
this side of heaveno Hence I am making the most 
of my present conditions, restrictive as they areo 
Life is not all a tale of woeso To guide a mis­
guided youth, to infuse some hope in one who has 
none, to pray for one and see the prayer answered -
all these engender happiness that I never knew 
before - as also the feeling that there are people 
like you out there who do care about uso 

On other occasions Ali Muhsin ' s predicament has depressed him, as in November 
1971 when he wrote , "So far nothing has happened to indicate to us that it is 
contemplat ed to let us out in the foreseeable future" o He is keenly appreciative 
of the hel p which Amnesty has given him, and the attempts that are being made 
to persuade the Tanzanian government that he should be releasedo Now aged 53, 
he has not seen his wife and six children since his arresto His health is 
generally good, although the monotony of prison life and the inadequacies of a 
detainee's diet have had their effectso He summed up his wants in a recent letter 
to his group as "Books, magazines, pro t eins , vitamins, and above all FREEDOM." 

Milan Htlbl CZECHOSLOVAKIA 

Milan Htlbl is a historian by professiono From 1962 t o 1964 he was Deputy Rector 
of the Prague Party College, but had to leave this post by order of Antonin 
Novotny, the Stalinist First Secretary of the Communist Party, Dubcek's prede­
cessoro He then worked at the Institute for the History of European Socialist 
Studies attached to the Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences until April 1968, when 
he was appointed Rector of the Prague Party College, the key post in the Party 
educati onal systemo From this vantage point, he acted as one of the most able 
and prol ific theoreticians of the Czechoslovak reform periodo In June 1969 he 
was stripped of his office and in September of that year he was expelled from 
the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Czechoslovakia, of which he had 
been a member since the Soviet invasi ono 

In the early days of the purge in the Party he was attacked in the press for his 
activity in the Party College and for his stand in the Central Committee of the 
Communist Partyo Although it is known that he was a supporter of Gustav Husak -
for instance, he supported his nomination as Chairman of the Czechoslovak Federal 
Assembly at the end of 1968 and again his nomination as First Secretary of the 
Communist Party in 1969 - · he was not allowed to hold any university posto His 
wife, who was also a university l ecturer , l ost her post in the spring of 19700 

In his career as party historian, Milan Httbl participated in the rehabilitation 
of the victims of the show trials of the 1950 ' s , particularly in the case of 
Gustav Husako This led to his dismissal from the Ferty College in 1964 because 
of Novotny ' s opposition to Husak 's rehabilitationo In 1964 he also published 
some historical findings about show trials in the USSR and the rehabilitations 
that eventually took placeo On a wider plane he has contributed to the concept 
of the pluralistic system of socialism and was attacked forthis by the Soviet 
press in 19680 
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In the autumn of 1971, after a period of enforced unemployment, he was reported 
to be working on a construction site in Pragueo 

Milan Ht.lbl was arrested between the 6th and 8th January 1972 in Prague, although 
no charges were published officiallyo In view of his previous prominent political 
post, he one of the most important people recently arrestedo 

.... 

A series of trials began in Czechoslovakia on July 17 1972 and so far 31 people 
have been given prison sentences of up to 6f years - Ht.lbl received the severest 
sentenceo The charges have all been that of subversion, connected with the 
distribution of leaflets in November 1971, before the elections, reminding the 
public of their constitutional rightso 

The trial of Milan Ht.lbl opened in Prague on Monday July 3lst, 19720 He was tried 
wit h Karel Kyncl, a journalist, and Karel Bartosek, an historiano The charge, 
as reported by Ceteka, the Czech news agency, was as follows : "The prosecutor 
charges t hem wi th the crime of subverting the republic according to Article 98 
of the Penal Code because from the spring of 1971 to the beginning of 1972, in 
an attempt to contribute to the weakening of the Socialist state system, they 
prepared i l legal pamphl ets which they disseminated in Czechoslovakia and also 
sent abroado" 

Htlbl was charged under Paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 98 which carry a maximum 
sentence of 10 yearso The Charge also mentioned his contacts with Jiri Pelikan, 
the progressive former head of Czechoslovak television who is now living in Romeo 
Htlbl did not deny these, nor the charge that he had sent documents abroad via 
Ferdinando Zidar, former correspondent in Prague of L'Unita, expelled last 
February, and Valerio Ochetto, another Italian journalist expelled in May. 
Htlbl mai ntained, however, that all his contacts with foreigners were legitimate 
contacts with the Italian Communist Partyo 

On August l s t , HUbl was sentenced to 6f years in prison; Kyncl received a 
sent ence of 20 months and Bartosek a suspended sentence of one yearo 

It shoul d be noted that these trials are being held despite the assurance given 
by Husak in 1969 that no one would be prosecuted f or his activities in the reform 
period. Husak has been out of the country a t a meeting of the Warsaw Pact 
political leaders in the Crimea since the trials begano 

Ht.lbl is married with one childo 

Doctor Antonio Maidana PARAGUAY 

Fourteen years ago this year Doctor Antonio Maidana, professor of history, was 
arrested by the police of Paraguay 's President Stroessnero He was sentenced 
to two years and nine months' imprisonment under Law 294 'In Defence of Dernocracy'o 
On October 17 1961, Judge Dro Luis Garbarino ordered his release on completion 
of sentence. Nevertheless, Maidana has remained imprisoned ever since in Police­
Station Number Three situated right in the centre of the Capital, Asuncion, and 
only 100 feet from the Supreme Courto 

The damp and humid cell measuring 12 foot square has no windows and the prisoners, 
whose numbers fluctuate between seven and fifteen, must sleep on the floor since 
beds are not allowedo In summer the temperature rises above 40°c in Asuncion 
and the cell itself backs on to the police cookhouse. There is no ventilation 
and the only lavatory facilities is a tin cano Maidana has never l eft the cell 
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once during the whole time of his imprisonrnent o Today he is a living skeleton, 
emaciated, half-blind, totally lacking in teeth and hair due to l ack of sunlight, 
and worst of all suffering from tuberculosis. Doctor Maidana ' s wife, who earns 
her living as a primary teacher visits her husband every Sunday accompani ed by 
their young daughter who was bor.n s hortly after her father's detention in 19580 
They speak to him for two minutes in the presence of armed guards by l ooking 
through a set of double bars in the cell dooro She i s not allowed t o bring him 
r eading material nor medicines . 

Maidana, now aged 55, has a long history of political activity i n the Paraguayan 
Communist Party. He was a l eader of the Paraguayan Teachers Association and 
belongs to the generation tha t grew up at the time of the bloody Chaco War with 
Bolivia (1932- 35 ) 0 In 1941, General Morinigo, then Dictator of Paraguay, ordered 
the judiciary to apply the Law 'In Defence of the State ' to Maidana for the 
political 'crime ' of organising a teachers' stri keo He was saved from the death 
penalty by the pressure of public opinion and Morini go was forced instead t o 
confine him in an isolated fortress in the Paraguayan Chaco deserto He was 
re-arrested in 1944 when the police raided the offices of the Communist Party 
newspaper and was again sent into confinement, this time near the Bolivian bordero 
He was l a t er deported to Uruguay returning i n 1947. Following a-mi~-±tary -coup the 
same year he spent two more years in prison during which time he t aught illiterate 
peasants how t o read. From 1950 he went into hiding and in 1957 successfully 
organised a teachers' strike for better pay and conditions. At the time of his 
arrest in August 1958 he was activel y involved in the preparations for the General 
Strike which t ook plac e in September 1958. 

Members of the ruling military Government of President Str oessner have oft en 
stated that in the event of an uprising against his regime, prisoners such as 
Maidana would be shot. It is possible tha t Mai dana is i mprisoned as a sort of 
'hostage' against threats from the opposition. It is not surpr i s ing therefore 
tha t offers of political asylum by the Chilean Government and the Belgian Govern­
ment have been politel y declined by President Stroessner. Maidana is obvi ously 
more use t o the regime imprisoned yet al ive, rather than either dead o r in exile. 
On May 9 l as t year Hugo Alfredo Stroessner, the younger son of the President, 
visited Maidana's cell after a l a te night partyo He threatened hi m with a pistol 
and only left after assuring him that he would never l eave the cell alive. 

Doctor Maidana's existence as a political prisoner is c onstantly denied by 
Paraguayan Government officials and Embassy staff throughout the worldo The 
Archbishop of Asuncion and the International Red Cross have both been refused 
permission t o visit himo Amnesty Internati onal adopted Maidana as a prisoner of 
conscience in 1970 and has publ ished the names of over 100 l ong- term political 
prisoners known t o Amnesty in Paraguay, of whom only two , including Maidana , 
have ever been tried. The continued detention of Dro Maidana is expl ained in 
Paraguayan legal t erms by a Constitutional clause which permits the Pr esident to 
detain any person f or as long as he likes without trial during a State of Emergency. 
Needl ess t o say, Paraguay has been under a State of Emergency ever since 
President Stroessner came to power in 1954, and it is attributed to a supposed 
'communist threat'o The l atter is hardly the case , however, since Paraguay is 
unique within Latin America as being the only country free from political kid­
nappings, tijackings and guerrilla movements over t he past t en yearso Yet 
paradoxically the l ongest serving pclitica l prisoners on the continent and 
the ones kept in the most degrading conditions are men who have never even used 
violence against the r egime which imprisoned them. The American Embassy in 
Asuncion professes its ignorance of the existence of political prisoners i n the 
j ails of Paraguay despite the fact that the head of t he Department of the Ministry 
of the Interior directly responsible for political prisoners , Dr. Antoni o Campos 
Alum, was trained at the Internati onal Police Academy in Washington. 
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_Pyotr Ionovich Y.'\KIR USSR 

At midday on June 21, 1972, Pyotr Ionovich Yakir, a leading campaigner for human 
rights in the Soviet Union, ~as arrested by the security pollce and taken away to 
Lefortovo Prison in the centre of Moscow~ Following this, a search was made of 
his apartment and although his wife, Valentina, was present, she was not nllowed 
to telephone friends to inform them of what had happened., Since then, Pyotr 
Yakir has been detained under investigation, and it is said that he has been 
charged under Article 70 of the RSFSR Penal Code , the Article forbidding "anti-Sovh~t 
gitation and propaganda"o In Mr Yakir's case, this consisted of his "sys tematically 
submitting to Western propaganda agencies information which was u~ed against the 
Soviet Union"o He has also been charged with recruiting other people to assist 
him in this , in particular his daughter Irina Yakiro The term "Western propaganda 
agencies" is taken to refer to Radio Liberty and Radio Free Europe, as well as 
the Western press in generalo 

The arrest of Pyotr Yakir, a 49 ye ar old historian, is seen by his friends as 
evidence of a fresh determ~nation in the present Soviet leadership to put to 
an end the incipi ent human rights movement in the country and in particular to 
stamp out t he leadi ng publication of the dissident movement, the Chronicle of 
Current Even~s. This is not the first time Yakir has been in prisono He is the 
son of Iona Yakir, a Soviet General who was shot in 1937 during the Stalin pur~so 
J\s a result of his father's "liquidation", Pyotr Yakir himself served fourteen 
years in prison camps and three in exile for alleged anti- Soviet activitieso 
During this period of relative liberalisation in the 1950's under Krushchev, who 
denounced the Stalinist cult of personality, General Iona Yakir was posthumously 
rehabilitated along with many other victims of the purges and Pyotr and his 
mother were released and allowed to return t o normal life in Moscowo 

In the 1960 ' s, with the birth and growth of the human rights movement in the USSR, 
Pyotr Yakir began to play a prominent part in Moscow dissident circleso An 
active seeker- out and purveyor of information, this campaigner for justice did 
all he coul d to bring the attention of people nbroad to the plight o f Soviet 
dissenters and to petition the Soviet authorities in any case which he regarded 
as a miscarriage of justiceo He was one of the founders of the self- styled 
"Action Group for the Defence of Civil Rights in the USSR" and has been among the 
signatories of most of the group 's many appeals and protests concerning breaches 
of civil and constitutional rights in the Soviet Uniono A qualified historian, 
he was forced to work as a library assistant after being banned from working 
in his profession for political reasonso His daughter Irina has likewise been 
expelled from the Institute wh~re she workedo The security police have emphasised 
to Pyotr Yakir that they are willing to have him and his daughter reinstated 
professionally if they renounce their dissident views and cease their "anti- Soviet" 
activi ties - which, of course, neither would ever doo 

In a number of protests, especially in the past four years, Yakir has warned of 
the danger of "new Stalins'' emerging on the Soviet political sceneo One of his 
l etters to the authorities demanded the release of "unjustly condemned fellow-
ci tizens", who languish in prison camps "simply because they dared to think for 
themselves"o He was also a signatory to a letter to the 1968 C.Onsultative 
Conference of C.Ommunist Parti es in Budapest, which was preparing for the big 
Moscow conference the f ollowing year; this appeal pointed out that several 
thousand political prisoners were still being held in Soviet camps and prisons 
in what the letter described as "inhuman conditions of forced labour, in a state 
of semi- starvation and a t the mercy of the prison authorities" o The signatories 
called on the Budapest conference to give due attention to the violation of human 
rights in the Soviet Uniono 

In March 1969 Yakir wrote a l etter to the official Soviet party journal Kommuni st , 
accusing it of trying to rehabilitate Stalino He said that if the journal did not 
publish a reply to his l etter (which, not surprisingly , the editors failed to print) 

contdoooo 
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he '"'ould assume they were admitting the truth of Lis acc-usRtions c.gainst St1lin. 
In that case, he said, he would feel perfectly justified in applying to the 
Soviet Procurator General for an official indictment of Stalino "I am certain", 
Y;:Ucir wrote, "that posthumous conviction is as valid as posthumous rehabilitatior". 

In May 1969, Yakir was one of 55 Russians to sign an nppeal issued by the unofficiRl 
\ction Group for the Defence of Civil Rights in the USSR and addressed to the 
United Nationso The appeal asked the United Nations Human Rights Commission to 
come to the defence of human rights in the Soviet Union. Over the next year, 
the Action Group, under the leaGership of Pyotr Yakir, issued four more appeals 
to U Thant pleuding for his intercession in defence of civil rights in the Soviet 
Uniono 

In July 1970, Pyotr Yakir was one of three leading Soviet dissidents who risked 
their precarious freedom to give a television interview to William Cole, the 
former CBS correspondent in r-"t0scowo The other two were Andrei Amalrik and 
Vladimir Bukovsky, both of whom have since been arrested and convicted of 
anti - Soviet activitieso 

In March 1971 Yakir sent an open letter to the 24th Congress of the Soviet 
Communist Party in which he warned against what he called "the reappearance of 
Stalinism in the political, soci a l and cultural life of our country". In October 
Yakir sent an open letter to the Soviet party leader, Leonid Brezhnev, and 
President Pompidou of France, who were about to begin talks in Pariso This letter 
accused the Soviet authorities of committing healthy persons with dissident views 
to psychiatric hospitalso 

In September 1971 , Pyotr Yakir was arrested and detained for a few hours as he 
was leaving his flat to attend the funeral of Mr Krushchevo Evidently, the 
authorities feared he might use the occasi on to make an inflammatory speech; 
Yakir and his wife were accused at the police station where they were held of 
"be ing about to commit an anti- soci al act", and were released only after a telephone 
call was received to say that Krushchev's funeral was overo 

In a recent public statement Yakir revealed that similar measures had been taken 
against Soviet dissidents on the eve of President Nixon's visit to Moscow in May 
19720 He said the police had summoned himself and other dissenters and civil rights 
campaigners and demanded that they sign an underta~ing to ref rain from so-called 
"anti- social actions" during the President's visito In his statement, which he 
defiantly handed to Western newsmen, Yakir said "One would like to think that after 
the Nixon visit the reaction will not be intensified, that (political) arrests 
i.-·ill be stopped, and nobody will be taken to lunatic asylums.. It is time to put 
an end t o the Middle Ages " o 

Evidently , Yakir knew that he was walking a tightrope; his apartment had been 
searched several times and the KGB had repeatedly warned him that they intended 
to silenc.e him at all costso Yet he continued his campaigning activities. 
Knowing that his arrest was imminent Yakir recorded a sta tement which contained 
these sentences: "If they beat me I will say l'nything - I know that from my 
former experience in the campso But you will know it will no t be the real me 
speakingo Another thing - I shall never in any circumstances commit suicide. Sp 
you will know that i f they say I have done away with myself someone else will have 
done me in" o 

The tri al of Pyotr Yakir is likely to be, in the words of one Soviet specialist , 
"the most important political trial in Russia since Stalin's day"o It is widely 
believed that this case will have a decisive influence on the future of the 
democratic movement as a whole in the Soviet Uniono 
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Nathaniel Gottlieb MAHUILILI NAMIBIA 

.vtr Nathaniel Gottlieb Mahuilili, Acting President in Namibia for the South West 
Africa People's Organisation, a liberati on movement, was served with a banning 
order in July. He is thus the first Namibian to be restricted under South 
i\frica' s Suppression of Communism Act, a l aw which can be used to restrict to 
n specified area, anyone suspected of 'furthering the aims of communism. 
Namibia is a former German colony (South West Africa) which was mandated by 
the League of Nations to South Africa in 1919. The Mandate was terminated by 
the United Nations in 1966, but South Africa r efused to withdraw her administration 
and continues to rule the territory, as she claims, 'in the spirit of the Mandate'. 
South Africa makes laws for Namibia. She has extended some of her own laws to 
the territory, including some of the far- reaching security legislation, of which 
the Suppression of Communism Act is one part. This Act defines communism as 
including: 

'any doctrine or scheme wr.ich a ims at bringing about 
any political, industrial,social, or economic change 
within South Africa by the promotion of disturbance 
or disorder, or by unlawful acts or omissions , or which 
aims at the encouragement of feelings of hostility 
between black and white, the consequences of which are 
calculated to further the achievement of doctrines or 
schemes such as tho se mentioned '. 

Mr Mahuilili was elected to the leadership of SWAPO because of his extensive 
political experience. Before he joined the organisation he had lived for a number 
of years in Angola where he was involved in the or ganisation of the Trade Union 
movement. His political career in Namibia soon brought him to the notice of the 
South African authorities. In 1964 he was arrested for trying to organise a 
protest against a commission appointed by South Africa to make recommendations 
for the development of Namibia. He was sentenced to four months' imprisonment. 
This commission, which came to be known as the Odendaal Commission, recommended 
that the South African policy of dividing up the African areas ethnically into 
'bantustans' should be adopted in Namibia. Between 1964 and 1968 the police 
carried out an intensive campaign against SWAPO, its leadership, guerrilla 
fighters and persons who were suspected of collaboration. A large number of 
people were arrested and detained in South Africa without trial. In 1967 
South Africa passed the Terrorism Act and 37 of the detained Namibians were 
charged under it a few weeks before it became l aw. The main charge was 'particip­
ating in terrorist activities '. Mr Mahuilili and two o thers were acquitted on 
this, but convicted of alternative charges brought under the Suppression of 
Communism Act. hccording to observers, the court found no evidenc e that they had 
participated in acts of violence, or had advocated violence. They were given the 
mandatory sentences of five years' imprisonment, which were suspended for 59 months. 

After serving his sentence, Mr Mahuilili returned home to Walvis Bay , but was 
placed under constant police surveillance, with the ~esult that he had difficulty 
in finding a job. As he put it, he was 'regarded as an unsavoury character'. 
While he seemed to withdraw from public life, within the limitations of his 
situation, he continued t o try and draw attention to the plight of the Namibians 
under South Africa 's rule. Early in 1972 he gave an interview to a newspaper on 
the Ovambo migrant workers' strike. The strike apparently occurred spontaneously 
and involved more than 14,000 who left their jobs in protest against the contract 
labour system, under which they are recruited to work in the industrial areas 
and white farms outside their reserves. It has been widely described as a form of 

the/sl avery , but/authorities dispute this, maintaining that it has been voluntarily 
c:tcc epted by the workers .. This view was put · f orward by the senior government 
official in charge of African affairs in Namibia, Mr Jannie de Wet, in r eply to 
criticisms by the churches. Mr Mahuilili blamed Mr de Wet 's remarks directl y for 
the strike, reiterating that it was indeed a form of sln.very "which binds Africans 
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to one job with no negotia ting power and poor wages"o He added that f or rrore 
than 10 years the Ovambos had tried to t ell the government of their abhorrence 
for the contract labour system but their appeal s had been disregardedo 

The Suppressi on of Communism Act was extended to N"'lffiibia in 1966. The fact th~t 
the banning provision is only now being used may indicate that South Africa is 
adopting stricter measures to de ter those who might raise their voices in protest 
against her administration of Namibia o Mr M~huilili l ed a lonely and an isolated 
life after he was released from jail, frustrated at his inability to communicate 
to the outside worl d the problems facing his fellow Namibianso He was adopted 
by a Danish Amnesty Group, who exchanged a number of l etters with himo He 
impressed them as a very r eligious man who was 'more concerned about humanity as 
a whole' than about his own circumstanceso His imprisonment had apparently 
affected his health and the fact that he was unable t o provide for his family 
must have weighed heavily on his mind ; he was certainly concerned about the 
future of his five daughters, two of whom are twinso However, his letters were 
uncomplainingo The group were touched by his simplicity, honesty and the warmth 
with which he'talked to his friends' and the love and r espect he obviously had 
to all meno Mr Mahuilili's ban restricts him to the African township of Kuiseb 
River, near Walvis Bayo I t will cut him off from contacts with other people; 
he may not attend meetings and gatherings; he will not be free to receive visitors 
of his choice and he will be liable to arrest if he leaves Kuiseb Rivero It will 
be an offence to quote him in any publicationo He is forbidden to hold a job 
where he will be in contact with the public. All this means that he can no 
longer serve the Hamibians by bringing their problems t o light as he tried to befor eo 
Added to this he will suffer a great deal of personal hardshipo He is in his 
fifties and so no l onger young and his health has never been very goodo As before, 
his job may be affectedo He may find it v ery difficult to provide for his family~ 
His ban will serve to make him lonelier and more isolated than he was beforeo 

NoBo Mr Mahuilili's lega l position is very similar to that of Father Cosmas 
Desmond in South Africa (see page l)o 

Suleyman EGE TURKEY 

Suleyman Ege is a Turkish author and publishero At the time of his arrest in 
1971, he was director of the Ankara publishing firm 'Science and Socialism 
Publications', which has now been closed downo He is now serving a 22 year 
sentence for 'spreading communist propaganda' through the publication of books on 
socialism and communismo We have chosen t o publicise Mr Ege's case during 
Prisoner of Conscience Week as it is a typical example of t he people adopted by 
Amnesty in Turkey at the present timeo His imprisonment should be seen in the 
context of recent Turkish politicso 

When the Turkish army intervened in 1960 to overthrow the right-wing government 
of Adnan Menderes, it did so with liberal support and amidst vociferous approval 
o f the student lefto In the Constitution drawn up under army scrutiny the 
following year (1961) great care was taken to see there were clauses guaranteeing 
civil liberties and the independence of the traditional liberal s trongholds, 
such as the press, the judiciary, and the universitieso 

The years 1961-1971 were therefore a time of greater political freedom and 
democracy than any Turkey had known before or sinceo During the last years 
of the 1960's, however, Turkey experienced a rising increase of industrial and 
economic unrest and an escal ation of v i o l ent student demonstrationso In March 
1971, the Prime Minister - Demirel - resigned and a new Government was formed by 
Nohat Erim, pledged to restore l aw and ordero Martial law was imposed in 11 o f 
the country's 66 provinces including al l university-towns, and widespread arrests 
followed throughout the summer and autumn of 19710 

contdo 0 0 0 
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Among those detained were many professional writers, publishers, journalists 
and university :teachers, all people whom the government declared hRd been 
guilty by their deeds and attitude of "helping to spread an atmosphere 
conducive to the pres~nt state of anarchy". Plthough many of the people w~re 
rel eased after interrogations, others have been tried on charges of disseminating 
communist propagandao It was at this time that Suleyman Ege was arrestedo 
In addition, numerous political organisations of both left and right wing 
persuasi ons were closed down o 

Mr Ege was first adopted by Amnesty in 1967 \/hen he was prosecuted and sentenced 
to nine months' imprisonment under Article 141/ 142 of the Turkish Penal Code 
which makes it an offence to "make propaganda with the a i m of asserting the 
domination of one class ove r another class or the suppression of one clnss". 
Mr Ege's offence at the time was that he had r ublished and written a book about 
the Hungarian peasant movement. He was released after having served his 
sent ence and continued his literary and publ ishi ng activities until he again 
was arrested after the military coup d ' etat in March 1971 and b r ought to trial 
in the autumn of the same year. Once again Mr Ege was charged under Article 
141/ 142 for having spread Communist propaganda by publishing such books as: 
"A History of the Bolshevik Party" , "The Communist Manifesto" 1 "The State 
and Revolution" and "The Workers of All Countries Unite". He was brought to 
trial in "The Third Criminal Court" in Ankara and received two sentences , 
running concurrently, of altogether 22~ years to be followed by 12 years in exile . 

Reverend Sandor SOMOGYI HUNGARY 

In a closed trial in Budapest in April/May 1971, the Reverend Somogyi was 
sentenced, together with three other Roman Catholic priests, to 4 years ' 
imprisonment with a fine of 4,000 forint to cover the cost of the trial. 
Under arrest since September 1970, he was charged with the "teaching of 
ideology hostile to the present poli b_cal system in Hungary", probably under 
Article 118 of the Hungarian Penal Code . The trial was held in secr~t; therefore, 
no details are known. 

The Hungarian Constitution guarantees freedom of religion in theory, but in 
practice the posi tion of religious believers ir. Hungary, in particular 
Roman Catholi cs, i s a difficult one o Rel igious orders were di ssolved in 
1950, and most religious schools and seminaries were closed; the Clergy are 
obliged to swear allegiance to the State, and Church appointments have to be 
approved by the Sta te Office f or Church Affairs. The money which is provided 
by the Vatican is distributed by the Stat e , so that it is srent on beautifying 
the outside of churches only, r ather than on the inside and on the purchas ing 
of new prayerbooks e tc. Al though the churches are offici ally "open'', many 
peop1e, particularly Communist Part y membe r s , are af rai d of attending church 
or having their children baptized f or f e ar of discrimination against them at 
their pl ace of work and sociallyo The i mplicatio ns ar e tha t, as in the 
Soviet Union, r eligi ous ins truction i s cons ider ed hostile propaganda. The r ef or e , 
while religion is theor e tically l egal, priest s ar e pr evented from c arrying out 
their dutie s , io e o the t eaching of religion, as this becomes a crimina l offence. 

Sandor Somogyi comes from a well-educat ed middl e-closs f amily who hav e always 
been devout Roman Ca t holics o The f amily had in f act been under surveill ance 
by the Security Police f or many year s; and they experienced the first of 
s everal house searches in 1960. It was about this time tha t Sandor, having 
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attend~d the Central Theological Seminary in Budapest, was ordained secretly 
as a priesto Because his ordainment was unofficial, he will never be able to 
practise legally as a priesto Like many priests, he mu:-t earn his living doing 
manual work - he was working as an unskilled labourer at the time of his 
second arrest - and any reli gious activities which he indulges in will be illegalo 

In January 1965, he was arrested with many other priests and charged with 
unofficial religious activities, with specific r eference to young peopleo He 
received a sent enc e, again behind closed doors, of 21 years , but was unexpectedly 
released before its expiry in December 19660 During the time of his 
imprisonment he was adopted as a prisoner of conscience by Amnestyo His 
second arr est and trial, in 1970/71, has many similarities with the earlier 
process, and the charge to all appearances is identiaal. The ref erence to 
young people, io e o their religious instruction, was exploited by the police in 
the second trialo According to reports, police interrogato~s questioned 
several young people about their relationships with the accused and threatened 
them with reprisals unless they agreed to testify against them~ The situation 
i s aggrava ted by the fact that many youths attend church service not out of any 
r e ligious conviction but as a gesture of hostility to the regimeo 

The accused and their following may well be opponents of the regime in Hungary, 
for which there i s no unofficial outlet such a s there is now in the Soviet Union. 
However, their activities, while perhaps causing annoyance to the authorities , 
were not theor etically illegal. There has also been a suggestion that their 
imprisonment is connected with the negotia tions going on at the moment between 
the Hungarian Government and the Vatican : it is thought that the Hungarian 
Government may be using the imprisoned priests as hostageso However, the 
priests themselves have announced that they would not want the Vatic an to make 
any concessions on their behalf o 

It is clear tha t the position of Roman Catholics· will continue to be difficult 
in Hungary until the government changes its a ttitude towards religion and allows 
its free practiceo Meanwhile when Sandor Samogyi's sentence expires, he will 
undoubtedly return to his "unofficial" religious activities and will therefore 
be liable for a third term of imprisonmento 




